1996

Loni F. DeLand v. Uintah County : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from the Eighth District Court's denial of Appellant's Motion for New Trial pursuant to 59(a)(7) U.R.C.P. on or about September 17, 1996 (R. 252-253) in reference to the District Court's prior August 7, 1996, denial (R. 198-200) of Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Issue of Liability and granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of Liability as to the issues raised by Appellant's claims based upon § 63-30a-2, U.C.A., as amended. All other claims were dismissed pursuant to stipulation and Order of Dismissal entered October 11, 1996. (R. 256-257) Notice of Appeal was timely filed on or about October 11, 1996. (R. 258-259).

The Supreme Court had original jurisdiction of this appeal under § 78-2-2(3)(j), U.C.A., as amended. On or about December 9, 1996, the Supreme Court poured this appeal over to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 42 Utah R. App. P. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to § 78-2a-3(2)(j), U.C.A., as amended.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

A. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The question presented by this appeal is whether an officer or employee of a public entity, charged with criminal offenses in connection with or arising out of acts or omissions of that officer or employee during the performance of his duties, may recover attorney's fees from the public entity pursuant to § 63-30a-2, U.C.A., as amended, which are incurred in defense of charges dismissed on motion of the defense or upon which the individual is

acquitted, notwithstanding that the officer/employee may plead or be found guilty on remaining counts of a multi-count Information. ("Ruling", R. 198-200; "Ruling", R. 252-253)

B. APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW

Lower court judgments rendered as a matter of law are subject to appellate review for correctness without giving deference to the lower court's conclusion. Anderson v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 920 P.2d 575, 578 (Utah App. 1996).

Statutory interpretation is question of law which the Court of Appeals reviews for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court's determinations. Bellonio v. Salt Lake City Corp., 911 P.2d 1294, 1296 (Utah App. 1996).

APPLICABLE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The statute central to this appeal is § 63-30a-2, U.C.A., as amended, entitled "Indictment or information against officer or employee - Reimbursement of attorneys' fees and court costs incurred in defense", and states in its entirety as follows:

If a state grand jury indicts or if an information is filed against an officer or employee, in connection with or arising out of any act or omission of that officer or employee during the performance of his duties, within the scope of his employment or under color of his authority, and that indictment or information is quashed or dismissed or results in a judgment of acquittal, unless the indictment or information is quashed or dismissed upon application or motion of the prosecuting attorney, that officer or employee shall be entitled to recover from the public entity reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs necessarily incurred in the defense of that indictment or information.

Other rules and statutes which may be of central importance to determination of this appeal are the following.

Rule 4 of the *Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure* is set forth in its entirety in the addendum hereto. It states in pertinent part,

(b) " . . . an indictment or information shall charge the offense for which the defendant is being prosecuted . . . "

(d) ". . . after verdict, an indictment or information may be amended so as to state the offense with such particularity as to bar subsequent prosecution . . . "

(e) " . . . when facts not set out in an information or indictment are required to inform a defendant of the nature and cause of the offense charged. . . . "

The term "Information" pursuant to § 77-1-3, U.C.A., as amended, is defined as follows:

(3) "Information" means an accusation, in writing charging a person with a public offense which is presented, signed and filed in the office of the clerk where the prosecution is commenced pursuant to § 77-2-1.1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Loni DeLand, obtained an assignment of Sheriff Lloyd Meacham's claim for attorney's fees against Uintah County pursuant to § 63-30a-2, U.C.A., as amended, in relation to the defense of criminal charges lodged against Sheriff Meacham arising out of acts or omissions during the performance of his duties, within the scope of his employment or under color of his authority. (R. 89; R. 63)

On or about March 6, 1996, Mr. DeLand brought an action against Uintah County (R. 1-8) for reimbursement of those attorney's fees based upon the assignment, as specifically set

forth in the Second Cause of Action of his Amended Complaint. (R. 19-24)

Mr. DeLand submitted a Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Issues of Liability and Damages as to Plaintiff's Second Cause of action on or about June 21, 1996. (R. 44-133). Uintah County responded on or about July 29, 1996 with a counter-motion entitled Motion for Summary Judgment on the Issue of Liability. (R. 137-197).

The trial court made and entered its "Ruling" denying Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment on the Issue of Liability and Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of Liability, both in respect to the second cause of action of Appellant's First Amended Complaint on August 7, 1996. (R. 198-200) A copy of the trial court's "Ruling" of August 7, 1996, granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment is appended hereto as "Exhibit A". Mr. DeLand timely filed a Motion for "New Trial" Pursuant to Rule 59(a)(7) U.R.C.P. on or about August 15, 1996, (R. 235-244), to which the County responded (R. 247-251) on or about September 13, 1996. The Trial Court issued its "Ruling" denying Appellant's motion for new trial on or about September 17, 1996 reaffirming its August 7th "Ruling". (R. 252-253). A copy of the trial court's "Ruling" of September 17, 1996 denying Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial is appended hereto as "Exhibit B".

The parties stipulated to dismissal of the Appellant's remaining claims for relief (R. 254-255) and pursuant thereto the Trial Court's Order of Dismissal of Plaintiff's First and Third

Causes of Action Without Prejudice was made and entered on or about October 11, 1996, thus disposing of all remaining claims and issues. (R. 256-257)

Thereafter, from the trial court's "Ruling" of September 17, 1996 the Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on or about October 11, 1996. (R. 258-259).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As to the sole issue presented herein with respect to liability of Uintah County pursuant to 63-30a-2, U.C.A., as amended, there are no material factual disputes between the parties. As reflected in the Trial Court's August 7, 1996, Ruling (R. 198-200) granting Uintah County's Motion for Summary Judgment on the Issue of Liability,

"The essential facts necessary to decide this case are not in dispute. Those facts are set forth in separate paragraph numbers in Plaintiff's Memorandum and will not be reincorporated in this Ruling. It should be noted that the parties have essentially agreed as to those facts except for the reasonableness or the amount of the fees and the fact the representatives of Uintah County had previously acknowledged that compensation would be appropriate." (R. 200)

Those material undisputed facts before the trial court are set forth as follows.

Lloyd D. Meacham was the Uintah County Sheriff in October of 1993. (R. 91) On or about October 10, 1993, a six count Information was filed in the Eighth District Court by the office of the Attorney General for the State of Utah, Criminal no. 931800490 (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "the criminal case") alleging three third degree felony counts of misuse of public money,

specifically that the defendant, Lloyd D. Meacham, "...while sheriff of Uintah County, a public officer, knowingly made a profit out of public monies and/or used the same for a purpose not authorized by law," in violation of § 76-8-404, and 202, and Article 13, Section 8, of the Utah State Constitution; and three class B misdemeanor counts of falsification or alteration of government documents. (R. 91; Information, Criminal no. 931800490, R. 75-78)

Shortly thereafter Appellant, Loni DeLand, a member in good standing of the Utah State Bar and experienced criminal defense lawyer, undertook the representation of Sheriff Meacham with respect to the charges contained in the Information for the specified retainer amount of \$7,500.00, against which Mr. DeLand agreed he would charge his normal and usual fees and costs and bill Mr. Meacham for the remainder over and above that amount. Mr. Meacham never paid the retainer although he was billed for all services rendered. (R. 91-93)

In his representation of Sheriff Meacham, among various defense functions, Mr. DeLand undertook to conduct interviews; review transcripts of meetings; travel from Salt Lake City to Vernal several times; represent Sheriff Meacham at a preliminary hearing on or about February 10, 1994, from which Sheriff Meacham was bound over to stand trial in the District Court (Docket, Criminal no. 931800490, R. 79-85, at 82); confer with representatives of the Attorney General's office; prepare for anticipated trial; prepare a Motion to Dismiss and Memorandum in

Support of a Motion to Dismiss; argue the Motion to Dismiss before the District Court; *et cetera*. (R. 89-90)

As counsel for Sheriff Meacham, Mr. DeLand moved for the District Court to dismiss the three felony counts as a matter of law based upon the established facts as preserved in the transcript of preliminary hearing. The motion was fully briefed and argued on or about April 11, 1994 by Mr. DeLand, and was likewise fully briefed and argued by Assistant Attorneys General, Michael D. Wimms and Creighton Horton for the prosecution. (R.89-90)

As a consequence of Mr. DeLand's Motion to Dismiss, the District Court dismissed the felony charges. The dismissal was granted upon the sole motion of the defense, over the objection and without the stipulation, approval, agreement or acquiescence of the prosecution. (R. 89-90; Docket, Criminal no. 931800490, Minute Entry of April 11, 1994, R. 79-85 at 81)

Subsequent to dismissal of the felony charges against Sheriff Meacham, a plea bargain was struck whereby Mr. Meacham agreed, *inter alia*, to plead guilty to the three charged class B misdemeanors. The State agreed not to file an amended information seeking additional charges against Mr. Meacham. (R. 89; Affidavit of Defendant Lloyd Meacham in Advance of Guilty Plea and Agreement, Criminal no. 931800490, R. 68-74)

As Sheriff Meacham's counsel Mr. DeLand determined from the outset of his representation that the three misdemeanor charges were essentially well-founded and indefensible. The matters of overriding importance were the felony charges. Therefore Mr.

DeLand concentrated virtually all of his efforts toward defense of the felony charges. Mr. DeLand attributes only a few hours of his over-all representation to defense of the misdemeanor charges. (R. 87)

Mr. DeLand billed Sheriff Meacham in accordance with their prior fee agreement. (R. 87,88) The total amount of the claim is approximately \$36,000, exclusive of any amount which might be attributable to defense of the misdemeanor matters. (R. 87-88) The District Court by its adverse rulings on the issue of the County's liability, (R. 198-200; 252-253), however, precluded inquiry into whether the attorney's fees incurred by Mr. Meacham in defense of the felony charges were fair, reasonable and necessarily incurred. Those issues are therefore not before this Court.

In or about May of 1994 subsequent to conclusion of the criminal case, Sheriff Meacham assigned to Mr. DeLand all right, title and interest to recover all attorney's fees, costs and expenses which he incurred and might be entitled to recover against Uintah County. The original written assignment was lost, misplaced or destroyed, however it was replaced. (R. 89; Assignment of Claims, R. 63)

Pursuant to that assignment Mr. DeLand submitted Sheriff Meacham's claim to Uintah County on or about July 7, 1994 requesting reimbursement of the attorney's fees and costs in regard to defense of the criminal case. (R. 88; 59-61) Mr. DeLand subsequently held numerous discussions with representatives of Uintah County, however no compensation was ever agreed to or paid.

(R. 88)

Accordingly on March 6, 1996, Mr. DeLand brought an action against Uintah County. (R. 1-8) His claim, based upon assignment of Mr. Meacham's claim for reimbursement of attorney's fees pursuant to statute, is specifically set forth in the Second Cause of Action of his Amended Complaint. (R. 19-24)

Mr. DeLand submitted a Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Issues of Liability and Damages as to Plaintiff's Second Cause of action on or about June 21, 1996. (R. 44-133). Uintah County responded on or about July 29, 1996 with a counter-motion entitled Motion for Summary Judgment on the Issue of Liability. (R. 137-197).

The trial court entered its memorandum "Ruling" denying Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment on the Issue of Liability and Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of Liability, both in respect to the second cause of action of Appellant's First Amended Complaint on August 7, 1996. (R. 198-200; Addendum, Exhibit A)

The District Court's decision adopted Uintah County's position that all six counts of the Information must have been dismissed or result in an acquittal for Sheriff Meacham to entitle him to any reimbursement of his defense costs. The District Court reasoned that inasmuch as, ". . . there was not a complete exoneration of Sheriff Meacham in this case, this Court can not allow attorney fees for defense which did not result in a total but only a partial acquittal." (R. 199)

Mr. DeLand timely filed a Motion for "New Trial" Pursuant to Rule 59(a)(7) U.R.C.P. on or about August 15, 1996, (R. 235-244), to which the County responded (R. 247-251) or about September 13, 1996. The Trial Court issued its memorandum "Ruling" denying Appellant's motion for new trial on or about September 17, 1996 reaffirming its August 7th "Ruling". (R. 252-253; Addendum, Exhibit B)

The parties stipulated to dismissal of the Appellant's remaining claims for relief (R. 254-255) and pursuant thereto the Trial Court's Order of Dismissal of Plaintiff's First and Third Causes of Action Without Prejudice was made and entered on or about October 11, 1996, thus disposing of all remaining claims and issues. (R. 256-257; addendum, Exhibit C) Thereafter, from the trial court's "Ruling" of September 17, 1996 the Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on or about October 11, 1996. (R. 258-259).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case of statutory construction. Appellant's argument is that a claimant under § 63-30a-2, U.C.A., as amended, is entitled to recoup his attorney's fees for those Counts of a multi-count Information which were dismissed upon his motion or upon which he has otherwise prevailed upon the merits, irrespective of the fact that on other counts he may have been found or entered a plea of guilty. The statute does not require "complete exoneration" and it is a misconstruction of the statute to require that the "whole" information be dismissed before any recovery of attorney's fees may be had.

ARGUMENT

The District Court's Ruling that in a multi-count information, the entire information must be dismissed in order to qualify a defendant for reimbursement of his attorney's fees under § 63-30a-2, U.C.A., is in error.

The statute in question refers such terms as "indictment" and "information", to the terms "act" or "omission", in the singular:

If a state grand jury indicts or if an information is filed against an officer or employee, in connection with or arising out of any act or omission of that officer or employee during the performance of his duties, within the scope of his employment or under color of his authority, and that indictment or information is quashed or dismissed or results in a judgment of acquittal, unless the indictment or information is quashed or dismissed upon application or motion of the prosecuting attorney, that officer or employee shall be entitled to recover from the public entity reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs necessarily incurred in the defense of that indictment or information. (emphasis added)

Section 63-30a-2, U.C.A., as amended.

The plain language of the statute indicates that "an information" is used in reference to a singular event, "any act or omission". The statute does not address multi-count informations. Appellant's position is that a public employee should be entitled to recover for the defense costs of individual counts dismissed from a multi-count information. Such a reading is consistent both internally within itself and with various other provisions of the Utah Code and Rules of Criminal Procedure which speak to the meaning of the term "information".

The District Court held that because there was not "a complete exoneration of Sheriff Meacham in this case, this Court can not allow attorney fees for defense which did not result in a total but only a partial acquittal." (R. 199) The District Court's

reasoning is set forth as follows:

This Court is of the opinion that the statute should be construed narrowly and that its legislative purpose and intent would be to fully compensate a person who held public office from having to defend criminal charges brought as a result of his holding that office where the charges were found to be unfounded and either dismissed or where the defendant obtained a full acquittal. (R. 199)

The District Court's finding of such legislative purpose and intent requiring "full acquittal" is not apparent from reading the plain language of the statute. A more practical yet nonetheless literal reading dictates a contrary conclusion.

In interpreting a legislative enactment it is fundamental that the court looks first to the plain language of the statute. If there is no reason to go beyond the plain language, resort to extrinsic factors is unnecessary:

(O)ur primary objective is to give effect to the legislature's intent. Gohler v. Wood, 919 P.2d 561, 562-63 (Utah 1996) (citing West Jordan v. Morrison, 656 P.2d 445, 446 (Utah 1982)). We generally look first to the plain language of the statute to discern the legislative intent. Id. " 'Thus, we will interpret a statute according to its plain language, unless such a reading is unreasonably confused, inoperable, or in blatant contravention of the express purpose of the statute.' " Id. (quoting Perrine v. Kennecott Mining Corp., 911 P.2d 1290, 1292 (Utah 1996)). " 'Only when we find ambiguity in the statute's plain language need we seek guidance from the legislative history and relevant policy considerations.' " Id. (quoting World Peace Movement of Am. v. Newspaper Agency Corp., 879 P.2d 253, 259 (Utah 1994)).

State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Clyde, 920 P.2d 1183, 1186 (Utah 1996).

"A statute is ambiguous if it can be understood by reasonably well-informed persons to have different meanings." Patterson v. Utah County Bd. of Adjustment, 893 P.2d 602, 606 (Utah App. 1995).

Appellant is not urging this court to find that the statute is ambiguous. The plain language and a common sense reading dictate an interpretation that, since different charges can and perhaps sometimes must be brought in one information (e.g. Rule 9.5 U.R.Cr.P.), and the statute speaks in terms of "an information" for an "act" or "omission", in effect a multi-count information contains more than one information, each count a separate information. However, even if it is deemed to be ambiguous, extrinsic evidence such as other statutes and rules, common usage, policy considerations, and the limited evidence of legislative intent establish that the District Court's narrow interpretation is not warranted.

Assuming arguendo that an ambiguity exists, the limited amount of legislative history which was before the District Court (R. 154-156; R. 94-101), the discussion on the floor of the Senate, seems to lend at least as much if not greater credence to the Appellant's position. The following is excerpted of Senator Haven Barlow's statement on the Senate Floor, March 7, 1977:

Mr. president, Senate Bill 247 relates to the providing for the reimbursement to officers and employees for legal fees and costs incurred in the special defense of a grand jury indictment. Of course, what this means is if they are found innocent and in defending themselves against charges which were not proven, it would simply reimburse them for reasonable attorney fees, for these charges, or for the indictment. . . . (emphasis added)

Transcript of debate, March 7, 1977, Senate Bill 247.

The broader view is supported by the language of other rules and statutes. For example, Rule 4 U.R.Cr.P. states in subsection (b) that "an indictment or information shall charge the offense for

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