1996

Loni F. DeLand v. Uintah County : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

The trial court was correct when it ruled that the information had to be dismissed in its entirety before the Uintah County Sheriff was entitled to be reimbursed his legal fees pursuant to Section 63-30a-2 Utah Code Annotated. The plain language of the statute states that the information must be quashed or dismissed or result in a judgment of acquittal. The statute does not contain language such as "dismissed in whole or in part." Each of the felonies was a single criminal episode with one of the misdemeanors, and had to be filed by the state in a single information. Even if the state had filed three separate informations based on the three separate time sheets, none of the informations would have been dismissed in its entirety.

The legislative history of Section 63-30a-2 Utah Code Annotated and of its civil equivalent, Sections 63-30-36 and 63-30-37 Utah Code Annotated, Utah Governmental Immunity Act, reflect a legislative intent to narrowly define the situations when a governmental agency must reimburse an employee for legal fees incurred in his defense.

Case law suggests that the purpose of Section 63-30a-2 Utah Code Annotated is to indemnify a "vindicated" employee, which

Meacham was not, as he plead guilty to three misdemeanors and was punished accordingly.

POINT II

This court could rule as a matter of law that Meacham's actions in falsifying his time sheets was not within the scope of his employment. Such actions violated the Uintah County Personnel Policy and Procedure and also violated the Law Enforcement Code of Ethics. If this court doesn't so find, it should remand this issue to the trial court for a factual determination.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED SECTION 63-30a-2 U.C.A.
AND REFUSED TO ALLOW LEGAL FEES BECAUSE THE
INFORMATION WAS NOT QUASHED OR DISMISSED OR RESULT IN A
JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL IN ITS ENTIRETY

A. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF SECTION 63-30a-2 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED
REQUIRES COMPLETE DISMISSAL OF THE INFORMATION

All statutory references contained herein are to the Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, unless otherwise stated.

At issue is the interpretation of Section 63-30a-2 which

provides as follows:

"If a state grand jury indicts or if an information is filed against an officer or employee, in connection with or arising out of any act or omission of that officer or employee during the performance of his duties, within the scope of his employment or under color of his authority, and that indictment or information is quashed or dismissed or results in a judgment of acquittal, unless the indictment or information is quashed or dismissed upon application or motion of the prosecuting attorney, that officer or employee shall be entitled to recover from the public entity reasonable attorneys's fees and court costs necessarily incurred in the defense of that indictment or information." (emphasis added)

In Perrine v. Kennecott Mining Corporation, 911 P.2d 1290, 1292 (Utah 1996), our Supreme Court summarized the well-established principles involved in statutory interpretation as follows:

"This Court's primary responsibility in construing legislative enactments is to give effect to the Legislature's underlying intent. West Jordan v. Morrison, 656 P.2d 445, 446 (Utah 1982)...Generally, the best indication of that intent is the statute's plain language. Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033, 1038 (Utah 1989). Thus, we will interpret a statute according to its plain language, unless such a reading is unreasonably confused, inoperable, or in blatant contravention of the express purpose of the statute. West Jordan, 656 P.2d at 446..."

If the meaning of a statute is plain, the "sole function of the courts is to enforce it according to its terms." State v. Paul, 560 P.2d 992, 993 (Utah App. 1993) citing Norman J. Singer, Sutherland Statutory Construction, Section 46.01 (5th Ed. 1992).

Each term in a statute should be interpreted according to its usual and commonly accepted meaning. Paul, supra, at 993 citing Utah County v. Orem City, 669 P.2d 707, 708 (Utah 1985).

There is nothing confusing or inoperable about Section 63-30a-2. The plain language of the statute requires that the information be quashed or dismissed or result in an acquittal before a public officer is entitled to recover his legal fees incurred in the defense of that information. Had the legislature intended the interpretation urged by opposing counsel, it could have easily done so by adding language such as "dismissed in whole or in part" or "result in an acquittal on all or some of the charges."

Appellant argues that each count in an information should be treated as a separate information. Such an interpretation would conflict with several of our statutes and rules of procedure dealing with the filing of offenses in informations.

Rule 9.5 of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that "...informations charging multiple offenses...arising from a single criminal episode...shall be filed in a single court...and the offenses within the...information may not be separated except by order of the court and for good cause shown."

"Single criminal episode" is defined as all conduct which is

closely related in time and is incident to an attempt or accomplishment of a single criminal objective. Section 76-1-401.

A defendant has the right not to be subject to separate trials for multiple offenses that are part of a single criminal episode when these offenses are within the jurisdiction of a single court and known to the prosecuting attorney at the time the defendant is arraigned. Section 76-1-402.

A subsequent prosecution would be barred if it arose out of a single criminal episode. Section 76-1-403 provides as follows:

(1) If a defendant has been prosecuted for one or more offenses arising out of a single criminal episode, a subsequent prosecution for the same or a different offense arising out of the same criminal episode is barred if;

(a) The subsequent prosecution is for an offense that was or should have been tried under Subsection 76-1-402(2) in the former prosecution;

Arguably, each of the three separate time sheets submitted by Meacham and the resulting criminal charges could have been filed in three separate informations. However, each false time sheet formed the basis for a misdemeanor charge of falsifying government documents (when it was presented) and a felony charge of misuse of public money (when it was paid a day or two later).

(R. 83 and 175) Each of the felonies was a single criminal episode with one of the misdemeanors and had to be charged in the same information. Counts I and IV of the Information were a single criminal episode, as were Counts II and V, and Counts III and VI. Even though the felony counts were dismissed by Judge Hyde, the informations would not have been quashed or dismissed as required by Section 63-30a-2 as Meacham pled guilty to three misdemeanors.

This court's analysis could stop with the argument set forth above, as the plain language of the statute is not confused or ambiguous and requires the information to be dismissed. However, a response to opposing counsel's discussion of the legislative history may be useful.

B. THE LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF SECTION 63-30a-2 AND OF SIMILAR STATUTES, SECTIONS 63-30-36 and 63-30-37, DEMONSTRATE A LEGISLATIVE INTENT TO NARROWLY DEFINE THE SITUATIONS WHEN AN EMPLOYEE IS REIMBURSED HIS LEGAL FEES

Section 63-30a-2 was enacted in 1977 as Senate Bill 247.

Comments made on the floor of the Senate indicate the legislative intent was that legal fees were to reimburse an individual who was found innocent of the charges. Senator Barlow commented on the Senate Floor that..."if charges were brought against us for accepting a bribe, it could be absolutely groundless, but we

could be indicted and it could be a very costly legal expense...to finally prove that we are innocent." (emphasis added) (R. 154-156 and Addendum 2) In 1983 House Bill 290 was passed to include the word "information", with no comments from the floor.

It is also interesting to note that during the Senate hearing on March 7, 1977 Senator Jesk inquired of Senator Barlow, the sponsor of the bill, if there were specific people who would benefit presently if the bill were to pass. Senator Barlow replied that two liquor commissioners who were indicted and proven innocent would benefit. (R. 154-156 and Addendum 2)

Presumably one of those liquor commissioners was Gerald E. Hulbert, as it was noted in Hulbert v. State, 607 P.2d 1217, 1223 (Utah 1980) that Hulbert..."actively lobbied before the legislature to have the statute enacted." (referring to Section 63-30a-2) Hulbert was a former Chairman of the Liquor Control Commission who sued the State to recover his legal fees incurred in his successful defense of grand jury indictments issued against him for acts allegedly committed in his official capacity and pursuant to the then recently enacted Section 63-30a-2. In 1975, a state grand jury, over a period of several months, issued twelve indictments against him. The law firm he retained,

represented him over a two and one-half year period, made sixty-five court appearances, conducted two trials, and made two appeals. The court in Hulbert noted that "The result of this vigorous defense was the exoneration of plaintiff on all twelve indictments." The court also held that the benefits of Section 63-30a-2 were to be applied retroactively.

In 1977 at the time the legislature was considering Senate Bill 247 and Mr. Hulbert was lobbying for its passage, Mr. Hulbert's situation was much different than Mr. Meacham's. Mr. Hulbert was completely exonerated on all twelve counts after long and costly litigation; Mr. Meacham pled guilty to three misdemeanor counts and the three felonies were dismissed because the district court's interpretation of the felony statute, not because of a finding of innocent behavior by Mr. Meacham.

Sections 60-30-36 and 63-30-37 (Governmental Immunity Act) are similar to Section 63-30a-2 in that they provide that a governmental entity defend an employee, or reimburse the employee for legal fees incurred by the employee in his defense, in civil actions brought against the employee for actions taken by the employee during the performance of his duties, within the scope of employment, or under color of authority. The governmental entity also is required to pay any judgment entered

against the employee or settlement of the claim. In 1987 Sections 63-30-36 and 63-30-37 were amended by House Bill No. 15. (R. 98-100 and Addendum 3) The changes reflect a legislative intent to tighten the circumstances under which the government agency must defend or pay for judgments entered against its employees in civil suits. (R. 94-97 and Addendum 4) Language was added to Section 60-30-36 and 60-30-37 which allowed a governmental entity to decline to defend an employee or pay for any judgment if the entity determines that the act in question did not occur during the performance of the employee's duties, within the scope of his employment, or under color of authority; or that the injury resulted from fraud or malice of the employee; or that the injury resulted from the employee being under the influence of drugs or alcohol. See Interim Study Committee Reference Bulletin. (R. 94-97 and Addendum 4).

It would be unfair to allow Meacham reimbursement of his defense fees when he pled guilty to criminal acts involving fraud, when another county employee sued civilly because of fraudulent conduct, would not be allowed a defense at government expense. The legislative changes in 1987 further limiting the situations when a governmental entity is required to defend an employee, support the narrow interpretation the trial judge made

of Section 63-30a-2 as requiring a complete acquittal of all charges before an employee is entitled to be reimbursed his legal fees.

C. ONLY A "VINDICATED" EMPLOYEE SHOULD BE ALLOWED HIS LEGAL FEES

Salmon v. Davis County, 916 P.2d 890 (Utah 1996) provides us with the Utah Supreme Court's opinion as to the purpose of Section 63-30a-2 U.C.A. In Salmon, a Deputy Sheriff was charged with two Class B Misdemeanors of assault that arose out of actions taken by him in the course of his employment. Separate trials were held on each count and two separate juries found him not guilty. The issue in Salmon was the amount the deputy sheriff should be reimbursed for legal fees, as the County stipulated that he was entitled to reimbursement. Justice Zimmerman, in concurring that Salmon should be entitled to attorney's fees incurred in litigating his right to attorney's fees, wrote that "I agree that lack of such an award would undermine the purpose of Section 63-30a-2, which is to indemnify a vindicated employee." (emphasis added)

"Vindicate" is defined as, "to clear of accusation, censure, suspicion, etc." Webster's Dictionary, (Pamco Publishing Comp. 1992). Meacham was not vindicated of the criminal charges

because the information was not dismissed in its entirety. Based on his guilty plea to three Class B Misdemeanors, he was sentenced to serve thirty days jail which was suspended; was placed on court probation for one year; and was ordered to pay a fine of \$1,387.50 and restitution of \$450.00. (R. 68-74 and 81)

POINT II

WHEN HE FALSIFIED HIS TIME SHEETS MEACHAM DID NOT ACT DURING THE PERFORMANCE OF HIS DUTIES, WITHIN THE SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT OR UNDER COLOR OF HIS AUTHORITY

The issue of whether or not Meacham acted during the performance of his duties, within the scope of his employment, or under color of his authority was raised by Uintah County in its Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 182-186 Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment...and In Support of Uintah County's Motion for Summary Judgment) but was never reached by the trial court. (R. 198-200) This issue is generally a factual question to be determined by the trier of fact, unless it is so clearly outside the scope of employment that this court can decide it as a matter of law. Birkner v. Salt Lake County, 771 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1989). This court need only deal with the issue if it decides against Uintah County on Point I discussed above. If this court does not rule that

Meacham's conduct in falsifying time sheets, as a matter of law, was outside his scope of employment, then it should remand the matter to the trial court for a factual determination.

Meacham was originally charged with three felony counts in violation of Section 76-8-402 - misusing public monies. The information followed the language of the charging statute and alleged that "...Meacham, while Sheriff of Uintah County, a public officer, knowingly...committed the crimes of misuse of public money."

This statute however, can be distinguished from Section 63-30a-2, under which Meacham now seeks reimbursement. In Section 76-8-402 the focus is on the public monies and imposes criminal sanctions for any public officer who misappropriates the public monies for his own use. Persons other than public officers, if they receive, safekeep, or disburse public monies and fail to deal with the monies lawfully, are also guilty of a third degree felony. (Section 76-8-403) There is no language or requirement that the public officer act during the performance of his duties, or within the scope of his employment, or under color of his authority when he appropriates the public monies for his own use. In fact, for the reasons stated below, such acts would not be considered within the scope of his employment. Section 63-30a-2

on the other hand, specifically requires that attorney's fees are only reimbursable if the information or indictment is "filed in connection with or arising out of any act or omission of that officer or employee during the performance of his duties, within the scope of his employment or under color of his authority and the information or indictment is dismissed or results in a judgment of acquittal." Thus, under Section 76-8-402, one need only be a public officer who misappropriates public money or under Section 76-8-403 any person who receives, safekeeps, or disburses public monies unlawfully to be guilty of the crimes, whereas, before being entitled to be reimbursed legal fees, a public officer must have acted during the performance of his duties, within the scope of his employment, or under color of his authority.

In Birkner v. Salt Lake County, 771 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1989) it was held that a therapist employed by the County Mental Health Facility who engaged in sexual misconduct with a patient, was not entitled to indemnification by the County because the act did not occur during the performance of his duties or within the scope of his employment, as required by the statute in effect at the time.

In determining scope of employment, the court in Birkner discussed three criteria that Utah cases have tended to focus on:

(1) The employee's conduct must be of the general kind the employee is employed to perform. The employee must be about the employer's business and the duties assigned by the employer, as opposed to being wholly involved in a personal endeavor.

(2) The employee's conduct must occur within the hours of the employee's work and the ordinary spatial boundaries of the employment.

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